IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WESLEY ALLEN LEWIS,

Appellant,

v.

MARIA DANIELA LEWIS,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case Noct 694 2015402:37 p.m. Dist. Court Case No. Spp10042005402:37 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

REPLACEMENT OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

This Brief is submitted in substitution for the Opening Brief previously filed by Appellant while acting pro se.

> Tami D. Cowden, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8994 **GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP** 3773 Howard Hughes Parkway Ste. 400 N Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 *Attorney for Appellant*

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 26.1, Appellant Wesley Allen Lewis, through his

undersigned counsel, states:

INTRODUCTION

This case demonstrates that a parent who, unable to afford legal counsel, can all too easily become overwhelmed and overmatched in the legal maneuverings involved in continuing child custody and support issues. Such unfairness is heightened to an even greater degree, when the District Court fails to employ the appropriate standard for the modification of child custody.

The visceral unfairness reflected in such situations is exacerbated still more when a district court not only fails to accord the *pro se* litigant appropriate leeway to present a case, but actually imposes uneven standards, favoring the represented party to an untoward degree by interfering with witness examinations, and otherwise failing to conduct proceedings with appropriate neutrality. The transcripts of the proceedings here indicate that Mr. Lewis was unfairly deprived of shared physical custody of his daughter.

Additionally, the record reveals that criminal contempt convictions were imposed upon Mr. Lewis, even though he was not afforded his Sixth Amendment Constitutional rights during the proceedings. Mr. Lewis's inability to effectively represent himself was clear throughout the proceedings, and indeed, the District Court made frequent reference to the procedural inadequacy of Mr. Lewis's efforts. Despite the District Court's knowledge that Mr. Lewis was clearly overwhelmed by the proceedings, the District Court made no effort to safeguard Mr. Lewis's rights.

• • •

Because the record reveals clear indications that the District Court failed to apply the appropriate standard for custody modification, failed to accord Mr. Lewis his due rights, and failed to make a fair and unbiased determination, the judgment must be vacated, and the cause remanded for a new hearing.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRCP 3A(b)(1), (2) and (7). This is an appeal of a final judgment entered September 2, 2014, with Notice of Entry filed on that same date. **IV APP 894-900**, and with a supplemental order filed on September 4, 2014, and Notice of Entry of the Supplemental Order filed on September 15, 2014. **IV APP. 910-914**. The Notice of Appeal was filed September 9, 2014 and an amended Notice of Appeal was filed on September 23, 2014. **IV APP. 906; 916**.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The District Court abused its discretion in modifying physical custody, as the Court failed to apply the appropriate standard and failed to make specific factual findings to support its decision.
- II. The District Court abused its discretion in finding Mr. Lewis in criminal contempt.
- III. The District Court abused its discretion in deviating from the child support guidelines and in ordering the continued participation in the Kumon program.
- IV. The District Court displayed sufficient bias so as to taint the fairness of the proceeding.

•••

•••

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an a post-decree Order finding Appellant guilty of several contempts, imposing criminal sanctions for such contempts, and modifying Appellant's physical custody of his daughter from the agreed joint custody arrangement of Sunday evening at 6 pm through Thursday morning at 9 am to a significantly reduced schedule of every other weekend and dinner on Mondays and Tuesdays.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Wesley Allen Lewis ("Mr. Lewis") and Respondent Maria Daniela Lewis, now known as Maria Perdomo ("Ms. Perdomo") obtained a divorce in July 2011. **I SUPP. APP. 22:7-9, 21-22.** The parties have one minor child, Isabella Sara Lewis (Bella or "the Child"), who, at the time of the events discussed herein, was seven years. **I SUPP. APP. 22:17-20.**

December 27, 2013 Order

In July 2013, an order to show cause was issued allowing Ms. Perdomo's Motion seeking a contempt order against Mr. Lewis., **I APP 120-129; II APP 254-255.** Following hearings held August 28, 2013 and October 8, 2013, the District Court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order on December 27. 2013. **II APP. 403-413.**

This Order contained various findings and conclusions relating to child support arrearages and imposition of child support obligations upon Mr. Lewis. Of particular relevance to this appeal was the following provision in the order:

It is further ordered that Defendant shall take BELLA to her Kumon Tutoring Class on Mondays immediately after school. BELLA shall continue to receive tutoring services until she is testing at or above grade level as tested by Kumon(or if Kumon does test, by the CRT's administered by the Clark County School District), or if Plaintiffs and Defendant mutually decide to terminate the tutoring. If BELLA is testing at or above grade level and one parent wishes to continue the tutoring, that shall be at that parent's sole expense. If BELLA needs tutoring again in the future, based on her grades or a teacher's recommendation, the cost of that tutoring will be equally borne by the parties.

Id. at 411.

In March, 2014, Ms. Perdomo filed a Motion seeking modification of custody, and enforcement of the December 27, 2013 order. **III APP 532-631**. The hearing of the Motion was held on July 29, 2014 and August 5, 2014. **Supp. App. 1-379**.

The Evidentiary Hearing

As the hearing commenced on July 29, 2014, it was immediately apparent that Mr. Lewis was completely out of his depth. The Court struck as a "fugitive document" Mr. Lewis's pro se filing, entitled "Opposition to Notice of Entry of Order," finding it to be a "fugitive" document.¹ *See, Id.* at 12:24-214:2. The Court asked Mr. Lewis his intent in filing the latter document, and Mr. Lewis replied "[m]y intent was to show a case." Mr. Lewis informed the Court that he had done his best to get things filed, but he is not a lawyer. I SUPP.

APP. 13:6-18.

The Court granted Ms. Perdomo's request that unanswered Requests for Admissions be deemed admitted, the Court having denied Mr. Lewis's motion for an extension of time to respond to discovery. **I SUPP. APP. 14:11-18:17.** The Court stated that after Mr. Perdomo put on her case, Mr. Lewis could "put on his case if I permit him to do so." **I SUPP. APP. 14:9-10.**

¹ The Court later struck another *pro se* filing, entitled "Motion to Declare Item of Material Obscene and Obtain Injunction for Dismissal." Significantly, Mr. Lewis had informed the Court that the exhibits he wished to submit had been filed with these documents, and he that he wanted the Court to at least look at the documents. The Court refused due to the title of the document. **II SUPP. APP. 310:11-312:18.** Presumably because the Court struck the items from the record, the documents were transmitted to the Court on appeal, and are not contained within the electronic database.

Ms. Perdomo's Presentation of Evidence

Any efforts Mr. Lewis might have made to object to improper questioning was effectively foreclosed by the District Court's order that he refrain from speaking to Ms. Fine or to the Court, "unless it's [his] turn," with a potential sanction of \$200 if Mr. Lewis interrupted counsel's examination of Ms. Perdomo. **I SUPP. APP. 38:11-15.**

The first part of Ms. Perdomo's testimony addressed her claim that Mr. Lewis had failed to comply with the Court's order December 2013 Order that he pay part of the cost of Kumon instruction, and take Bella to the instruction on Monday's after school. I SUPP. APP. 24:21- 42:4. All but one of the purported failures to comply occurred on dates when there was no school. I SUPP. APP. 41:37; 43:1-5. The sole instance occurring on a school day occurred on a date that a "Daddy-Daughter" skating event had been planned.² I SUPP. APP. 36:8-42:1. Mr. Lewis later testified that he had to drive his daughter home to change clothes for the event. I SUPP. APP. 153:16-24.

The next segment of Ms. Perdomo's testimony was devoted to nonpayment issues. **I SUPP. APP. 46:12-59:7.** Ms. Perdomo then listed the issue she contended indicated problems with co-parenting, including the Kumon instruction issue; Ms. Perdomo's concerns because Bella "disconnects completely from the cell phone" when she is with her father, **I SUPP. APP. 61:8-12**; displeasure that Mr. Lewis made a dentist appointment for Bella after the motion to modify custody had been filed, **I SUPP. APP. 62:16-20**; Ms. Perdomo's unsupported testimony that Bella had been biting other children and fighting in school, leading

 $^{^{2}}$ While the record does not show who planned this event, the evidence, including reference to a flier announcing the event, establishes that it was a school or community event, rather than merely something that Mr. Lewis had planned privately.

Ms. Perdomo to unilaterally initiate counseling with a social worker, ³ I SUPP. APP. 64:1-70:18; and her allegations that Mr. Lewis neglected Bella's medical needs, which concerned a series of rashes and two bouts of strep throat, all of which were actually discovered while Bella was in Ms. Perdomo's care. I SUPP. APP. 70:19-80:15. Ms. Perdomo's theory, unsupported by any testimony other than her own evidence, is that the illnesses had completely manifested while Bella was in Mr. Lewis's care, but he had refused to take her to the doctor. I SUPP. APP. 74:12-17. In fact, the second rash had been caused by Bella's allergy to the antibiotic used to treat the strep throat. I SUPP. APP. 111:16-19. Bella had been in Ms. Perdomo's care for the length of that illness. I SUPP. APP. 113:6-23.

In response to questions regarding Bella's testing, Ms. Perdomo stated that Bella had not tested at grade level in math, indicating she had tested at or above grade level in reading. **I SUPP. APP. 103:20-21.** Later testimony established that Bella had tested above grade level in math in the standardized testing at her CCSD elementary school. **I SUPP. APP. 149:24-151:7.**

Mr. Lewis made an effort to point out the inconsistencies of Ms. Perdomo's positions, but the Court repeatedly interfered with his efforts. Mr. Lewis attempted to question Ms. Perdomo about her failure to keep him informed of major events, but that inquiry was shut down with a lecture from the Court about his responsibilities as a parent. **I SUPP. APP. 95:1-96:12**. The Court provided an answer for Ms. Perdomo when she struggled to explain Mr. Lewis's efforts at questioning Ms. Perdomo about the actual text of the Court's order, requiring Bella

³ While the counseling began in September 2013, Ms. Perdomo had apparently share her concerned over the issues approximately 5 months prior to that time. **I SUPP. APP. 94:17-24.** The teacher's comments regarding Bella for the 2013-2014 school year completely belie the assertion that Bella was aggressive or violent.

to be taken to Kumon "after school," not when there was no school, was halted as being "argumentative." **I SUPP. APP. 102:9-103:5.** Mr. Lewis's efforts to inquire regarding Bella's report cards was cut off by the Court, who "sustained" a nonexistent objection as to this line of questioning. **I SUPP. APP. 103:20-104:12.**

Mr. Lewis was then questioned regarding his failure to provide discovery in the procedurally correct format, I SUPP. APP. 135:13-138:7 and his purported failures to comply with the Court's orders, including a failure to comply with oral rulings; I SUPP. APP. 138:11-156. Ms. Perdomo's counsel questioned him regarding his current income, and Mr. Lewis testified that his employer would not give him full time hours. *Id.* at 158:2-8. However, the Court interrupted the line of questioning, stating that it would rely on its findings issued six months before imputing income to Mr. Lewis. I SUPP. APP. 158: 12-23. When Ms. Perdomo's counsel began to berate Mr. Lewis for his failure to obtain a second job, the Court did not intervene and admonish counsel regarding the argumentative questioning, even though the Court had intervened when Mr. Lewis strayed into argument. I SUPP. APP. 161:6-12-162:8.

Mr. Lewis testified that he attempted to reach the Counselor, but despite leaving messages, was unable to connect with him until April. **I SUPP. APP. 164:5-165:19.** Mr. Lewis testified that he obtained moisturizers for Bella's dry skin, and denied that he had ever been provided with a medication to be used.

The Court questioned Mr. Lewis regarding Bella's history of tardiness and absenteeism while in his care. He corroborated Ms. Perdomo's testimony that Bella had been in her care for the two weeks of missed school. He explained the tardies as being the result of traffic or because when he volunteers, he is signing in to enter the building; his home is located at Charleston and Lamb while the school is located at Eastern and Horizon Ridge; a distance of 18 miles.⁴ I SUPP. APP. 172:2-12, 174:10-24. In contrast, Ms. Perdomo lives only two minutes from the school, *id*. but the Court did not ask Ms. Perdomo to explain Bella's tardies while in her care.

Ms. Perdomo next presented testimony by Mr. Warren Wheatley, a social worker she engaged on the basis of her unsubstantiated reports of aggression by Bella. **II SUPP. APP. 182:21-183:4; 185:4-186:6**. Mr. Wheatley did not observe any aggression in Bella, other than knocking down building blocks, or similar actions during play therapy. **II SUPP. APP. 197:3-10**. Mr. Wheatley "diagnosed" an adjustment disorder. He explained that persons with adjustment disorders are "having difficulty adjusting to various situations." **II SUPP. APP. 196:4-15**.

Ms. Perdomo's counsel led Mr. Wheatley through his testimony that he had been provided contact information for Mr. Lewis by Ms. Perdomo, and had left repeated messages for Mr. Lewis to contact him beginning in the fall of 2013, but received no response until April 2014. **II SUPP. APP. 192:20-194:4.** Mr. Wheatley did not attempt to contact Mr. Lewis through any means other than telephone calls. **II SUPP. APP. 195:194:23-195:3.**⁵ Throughout his testimony, Mr. Wheatley testified as to what he was told by Bella, Ms. Perdomo, or Ms. Perdomo's husband; Mr. Lewis did not object to the hearsay testimony.

⁴ Additionally, due to the timeshare arrangement, Ms. Perdomo brought Bella to school only one day per week for the bulk of the 2013-2014 school year, while Mr. Lewis brought Bella to school four days per week.

⁵ Later testimony revealed that Ms. Perdomo did not sign a release allowing Mr. Wheatley to contact Mr. Lewis until sometime in October. **I SUPP. APP. 246:11-21.** Later testimony also revealed that Mr. Lewis did not have voice mail on his phone beginning in October, 2013; Mr. Wheatley was unable to testify as to the number he purportedly called. **II SUPP. APP. 247:16-248:9.**

Mr. Wheatley reiterated Ms. Perdomo's theory that Bella's rash had led to strep throat through neglect, but acknowledged that this was actually speculation by Ms. Perdomo and her husband. **I SUPP. APP. 198: 9-13**; **. Mr. Wheatley was asked to read the letter he had written at the request of Ms. Perdomo's counsel. **II SUPP. APP. 197:15-23**; **199: 22-200:10**; **200:16-201:17**.

Mr. Wheatley's therapy sessions ended on May 9, 2014. **II SUPP. APP. 202:4-12.** Mr. Wheatley said the goals had all been achieved by that date, and Bella was verbalizing appropriately, and no longer felt as though she were caught in the middle between her mother and father. *Id.* In fact, when Mr. Wheatley and Mr. Lewis met in April, Bella had already progressed to the point that Mr. Wheatley did not feel it was necessary for Mr. Lewis to participate in any therapy sessions with Bella. **II SUPP. APP. 202:18-203:2; 204:14-22.**

Mr. Wheatley's testimony revealed that Bella attended a session with him on April 1, 2014, with her father, and on April 5, 2014, with her mother and stepfather, and felt ill on both occasions. **II SUPP. APP. 206:3-207:12.**

The Court asked whether Mr. Lewis whether he consented to release his therapist/patient privilege as to Mr. Wheatley. Mr. Lewis gave no verbal response. Despite the lack of verbal response, the Court stated Mr. Lewis had given consent. **II SUPP. APP. 219:22-220:6.** Mr. Lewis was not given any advisements regarding the release of his privilege.

Mr. Wheatley did not make any diagnosis. **II SUPP. APP. 224:7-9**. While Mr. Wheatley stated that he thought Mr. Lewis could benefit from therapy, he qualified his opinion by stating that he believed that everyone needed therapy; he also stated that the benefit of such therapy would be that Mr. Lewis would know

his daughter better. **II SUPP. APP. 229:7:231:1.** While the Court asked Mr. Wheatley to opine on the likely effect on Bella if Mr. Lewis did not obtain therapy, the Court refused to allow Mr. Lewis to ask Mr. Wheatley to opine on the likely effect of a change in custody. **II SUPP. APP. 250:1-251:10.**

Mr. Wheatley also testified that Bella was very bright, and that she played at a level "above what [he] would consider an average seven year old." **II SUPP. APP. 213:13-22.** Additionally, While Ms. Perdomo has emphasized that Mr. Lewis did not participate in Bella's therapy, it is striking that Bella's progress coincided *with her mother and stepfather receiving instruction in more appropriate parenting skills.* **II SUPP. APP. 214:23-216:3.**

Mr. Lewis's Presentation of Evidence

Mr. Lewis testified on his own behalf, with the Court crossexamining him and engaging in argumentative questions. **II SUPP. APP. 301:4-304:10.** The Court interrupted Mr. Lewis's testimony to berate him for failing to pay for an attorney to represent him. **II SUPP. APP. 305:4-307:21.** The following dialogue occurred:

The Court: How has this been financially straining? I don't see any lawyer over there.

The Defendant: I know.

The Court: How has it been financially trying -

The Defendant: My—

The Court: -- for you?

The Defendant: Well-

The Court: Explain that.

The Defendant: I make fifteen thousand dollars -

The Court: No, but tell me how it's been a financial burden. You didn't engage a paralegal to help you [sic] discovery, I don't see a lawyer sitting at your table either today –

The Defendant: I had a –well-

The Court: --excuse me--

The Defendant: I'm sorry.

The Court: -- either today or the last court date. So how, how has it been a financial burden going through this trial? How?

The Defendant: Can I answer?

The Court: What has been the financial outlay that you've had –

The Defendant: But the pre –

The Court: -- for this trial?

The Defendant: Well, the previous – I –I did never finish paying off [prior counsel] Marr from the previous cases.

The Court: Uh-huh.

The Defendant: Anytime I needed current legal help, she made it a point that I needed to become current with paying up and letting me know what I was in store for. I paid – I paid her –

The Court: Um-hum (in the affirmative).

The Defendant: -- to where we're even to where she was here. Believe it was May 1^{st} , just to sit in, I think, just – I don't know, per se or per, -- it's a –

The Court: Unbundled?

The Defendant: Yes, unbundled. Thank you.

The Court: Um-hum (in the affirmative).

The Defendant: And after that day she, you know, requested to be removed.

The Court: Um-hum (in the affirmative).

The Defendant: And – because she knew I could not pay. She knew it. And she told me she was sorry that she could only help. And she wasn't pro bono. And it was –from that moment forth I – had a burden on my shoulders. And I had to understand it thoroughly. And it took me months to get accustomed to it.

The Court: Did you think about going out and getting a second job while your daughter was at her mom's, during her mom's timeshare, to earn more money to pay for your lawyer?

The Defendant: Well, I actually when – when she's with her – when she's with her mom I do work full – full days. It's hard to get a second job that will comply with a sliver of time, especially when I – my credit is so horribly bad because of support – child support arrears and IRS liens, that is it hard for me to get a second look from anybody. It's actually frustrating.

II SUPP. APP. 305:14-307:21

The Court also chided Mr. Lewis for his failure to submit procedurally correct documents, striking another document Mr. Lewis had submitted from the record. **II SUPP. APP. 310:11-24.** When Mr. Lewis attempted to reintroduce the stricken document at the beginning of the hearing, the Court flatly denied the attempt. **II SUPP. APP. 312:11:18.** When Mr. Lewis offered to submit emails that would complete email chains only partially submitted by Ms. Perdomo, the Court denied admission on the basis that Mr. Lewis had not provided the emails in discovery. **II SUPP. APP. 312:20-313:17.**

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