1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WESLEY ALLEN LEWIS,)
)
Appellant;)
)
vs.)
)
MARIA DANIELA LEWIS.,)
)
Respondent.)
_____)

Electronically Filed
Nov 16 2015 03:56 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court
Supreme Court No. 66497
District Court No. D-10-427034-D

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

The Fine & Price Law Group
FRANCES-ANN FINE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 0025
Suite 5
8975 South Pecos Road
Henderson, Nevada 89074
Telephone: (702)384-8900
Attorneys For Respondent
MARIA DANIELA LEWIS
aka MARIA DANIELA PERDOMO

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

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

11 MARIA's motion filed on March 19, 2014 also sought to enforce the
12 financial obligations imposed upon WESLEY by the Findings Of Fact,
13 Conclusions Of Law And Order filed December 27, 2013 through the
14 District Court's contempt powers. The motion, and accompanying
15 documentation, pointed out that WESLEY had not paid his one-half share
16 of the cost of BELLA's tutoring, had not made timely child support
17 payments, had not made the health insurance contribution payments, and
18 had not made the mandated monthly payments on previously determined
19 arrears. ROA 541-543)

20 Following the issuance of an Order To Show Cause filed on March
21 27, 2014 (ROA 633-634), WESLEY (although still with counsel of record)
22 filed on April 24, 2014 a document entitled "Opposition To Motion To

1
2 Modify Custody; To Enforce Order Of December 27, 2013 And An Award
3 Of Attorney's Fees And Countermotion For Fees; To Order Therapy For
4 Plaintiff; To Hold Plaintiff In Contempt; And For Related Relief. (ROA
5 654-685)

6 A hearing was conducted on the motion calendar on May 1, 2014
7 with WESLEY represented in an unbundled capacity by his attorney of
8 record who had represented in at during the 2013 proceedings. At that
9 hearing the District Court scheduled an Evidentiary Hearing for July 29,
10 2014 and August 5, 2014 and made temporary custody modifications for the
11 interim period. At the conclusion of the hearing, WESLEY's unbundled
12 attorney of record was permitted to withdraw. (ROA 940-942). The
13 District Court's temporary orders were thereafter set forth in an Order filed
14 on June 16, 2014. (ROA 700-702)

15 The Evidentiary Hearing was in fact conducted on both July 29, 2014
16 and August 5, 2014, at the conclusion of which the District Court awarded
17 MARIA primary physical custody of BELLA, modified the timeshare and
18 entered orders relating thereto, modified WESLEY's current child support
19 obligation based upon the new physical custody award, and found
20 WESLEY in contempt of court. (ROA 943-947)

21 The District Court's orders were set forth in an Order filed on
22 September 2, 2014 (ROA 889-893) and Supplemental Order filed on

1
2 September 4, 2014 (ROA 902-904). Following service of these orders, this
3 appeal was commenced. (ROA 906)

4 **ARGUMENT**

5 **The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In**
6 **Modifying Physical Custody Of The Parties' Child**

7 In *Rivero v. Rivero*, 125 Nev. 410, 216 P.3d 213 (2009), this Court
8 set forth the standard for reviewing custody orders as follows:

9 This court reviews the district court's decisions
10 regarding custody, including visitation schedules,
11 for an abuse of discretion. District courts have
12 broad discretion in child custody matters, but
substantial evidence must support the court's
findings. Substantial evidence "is evidence that a
reasonable person may accept as adequate to
sustain a judgment". (Citations omitted)

13 In the Replacement Opening Brief Of Appellant, WESLEY asserts
14 that the District Court abused its discretion in modifying physical custody
15 of BELLA by failing to apply the correct standard for such a custody
16 modification and correspondingly failing to make the specific findings
17 required by that standard. WESLEY argues on page 18 of his brief that,
18 pursuant to *Ellis v. Carucci*, 123 Nev. 145, 161 P.3d 239 (2007), as follows:

19 A District Court may modify an order regarding
20 primary physical custody "only when (1) there has
21 been a substantial change in circumstances
22 affecting the welfare of the child, and (2) the
child's best interest is served by the
modification."

1
2 WESLEY argues that the District Court abused its discretion by
3 failing to address any change in circumstances in support of its modification
4 of physical custody. However, it is WESLEY not the District Court that is
5 in error in terms of the proper standard to apply to a requested modification
6 of physical custody in the case at bar.

7 This Court has distinguished cases in which a modification from a
8 prior primary physical designation is being sought versus a modification
9 from a prior joint physical custody designation is being sought. This was
10 made clear by footnote 4 in *Rivero, supra*, where this Court stated as
11 follows:

12 The court may modify *joint* physical custody if it
13 is in the vest interest of the child. NRS
14 125.510(2); Potter v. Potter, 121 Nev. 613, 618,
15 119 P.3d 1246, 1249 (2005). However, to modify
16 a primary physical custody arrangement, the court
must find that it is in the best interest of the child
and that there has been a substantial change in
circumstances affecting the welfare of the child.
Ellis, 123 Nev. at 150, 161 P.3d at 242.

17 As noted earlier herein, the parties' 2011 Decree Of Divorce awarded
18 them joint physical custody of BELLA. (ROA 82) MARIA's motion filed
19 on March 19, 2014 sought a modification of that joint physical custody
20 designation to an award to MARIA of primary physical custody.
21 Accordingly, the District Court properly applied the "best interests"
22 standard and WESLEY's argument to the contrary is without merit.

1
2 WESLEY also claims that the District Court's modification of
3 physical custody was "based, in large part, upon Mr. Lewis' purported
4 noncompliance with its orders." Had the District Court's award to MARIA
5 of primary physical custody been based solely upon WESLEY's failure to
6 comply with prior orders, clearly that would have been an abuse of
7 discretion. *Sims v. Sims*, 109 Nev. 1146, 865 P.2d 328 (1993). However, a
8 review of the record discloses that not to be the case.

9 WESLEY attempts to make much of the fact that the District Court's
10 oral statement at the conclusion of the Evidentiary Hearing "twice" included
11 references to WESLEY's disobedience of court orders. This is not
12 surprising, nor does it taint the custody modification.

13 One of the issues before the District Court was the request that
14 WESLEY be held in contempt of court for his failure to obey various
15 provisions of the District Court's orders. Evidence was in fact propounded
16 as to that issue, and WESLEY's failure to comply with those orders was
17 proven. Therefore, in addressing the contempt of court issue it was entirely
18 proper that the District Court make specific factual findings as to those
19 failures.

20 In its oral statement setting forth its findings of fact supporting its
21 modification of physical custody, the District Court addressed a number of
22 instances of WESLEY's conduct that were contrary to BELLA's best

1
2 interest. WESLEY failed to permit or provide for communications
3 between MARIA and BELLA when she was in WESLEY's care. (II. SUPP.
4 APP. 363:9-21) WESLEY failed to consistently take BELLA to her
5 tutoring, and indeed stopped doing so altogether in the Summer of 2014
6 because he did not want to drive so far. (II. SUPP. APP. 365:18 - 366:3)
7 Despite being aware of BELLA's counseling and the therapist's desire that
8 he become involved in same, WESLEY failed to participate in that
9 counseling until he did so for appearance sake after the filing of MARIA's
10 motion in March 2014. (II. SUPP. APP. 366: 21 - 367:5. WESLEY failed
11 to attend to BELLA's medical needs when she was in his care. (II. SUPP.
12 APP. 368:14 - 369:3).

13 The District Summarized the custodial findings (which in some
14 instances also included violations of court orders) at II. SUPP. APP. 373:13
15 - 374:4 as follows:

16 You know, Mr. Lewis, in the space of ten months,
17 you demonstrated to the Court by your own
18 behavior in this – your own conduct, I should say,
19 that it's in the best interest of the minor child that
20 I change the custodial arrangement, from not
21 paying your support to not taking her to Kumon,
22 to ignoring her medical needs, to not making
yourself available with a voicemail, to not
following my Court orders, even so far as making
sure your child's phone stay plugged in an
charged so that Mom can have access to her, and
to the tardies and the absentee record, especially
the tardies and the absentee records. Those are

1
2 significant factors the Court looks at.

3 To the fact that you didn't participate in the
4 child's mental health, that's significant to The
5 Court, very, very significant. That you wait until
6 March, and even then your dad is the one who
7 calls and not you.

8 It is clear that WESLEY's argument that the District Court failed to
9 use the proper standard for custody modification is without merit. The
10 District Court's reciting of its factual findings as quoted immediately above
11 similarly demonstrates WESLEY's arguments that the District Court based
12 its change of circumstances on his violation of court orders and that the
13 District failed to make specific findings necessary for a custody
14 modification are similarly without merit. Accordingly, the modification of
15 physical custody should be affirmed.

16
17 **The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion**
18 **In Finding Wesley In Contempt Of Court**

19 In the Replacement Opening Brief Of Appellant, WESLEY argues
20 that the District Court abused its discretion in finding him in contempt of
21 court. This Court's jurisdiction to consider the contempt findings is not
22 contested by MARIA since they are set forth in the custody orders appealed
from by WESLEY. It should be noted, however, that WESLEY incorrectly
adds that "the contempt Orders served as the basis of the attorney fee Order
that is properly on appeal". The District Court did not award MARIA
attorney fees in either of the two orders WESLEY is appealing from.

1
2 WESLEY seeks the vacating of the contempt orders on three separate
3 grounds. He first asserts the Evidentiary Hearing was a criminal contempt
4 proceeding rather than a civil contempt proceeding, and therefore his failure
5 to have counsel violated his Sixth Amendment protections. WESLEY next
6 argues that the contempt orders should be vacated because the District
7 Court failed to determine his present ability to pay arrearages. Finally, it is
8 argued that the order finding him in contempt for failing to take BELLA to
9 her Kumon tutoring must be vacated because the order imposing such an
10 obligation upon WESLEY "was too ambiguous". WESLEY's arguments
11 will be addressed in the order in which they are presented.

12 WESLEY takes the position that since the District Court imposed a
13 definite number of days sentence for each contempt (20 days, albeit
14 stayed), each of these constitutes a "criminal contempt". Under that
15 interpretation, WESLEY submits that his failure to have counsel during the
16 Evidentiary Hearing was a violation of his Six Amendment rights.

17 It is respectfully submitted that the fact that a definite period of
18 incarceration is imposed as a sentence for contempt does not necessarily
19 constitute criminal contempt. Instead, it is the purpose of the sentence that
20 is determinative. This was made clear by this Court in a case cited by
21 WESLEY, *Warner v. Second Judicial District Court*, 111 Nev. 1379, 906
22 P.2d 707 (1995) by the following discussion:

1
2 The United States Supreme Court has further clarified the
3 distinction between civil and criminal contempt, explaining
4 that since a civil contempt sanction is designed to coerce the
5 contemnor into complying with a court order, it must be
6 conditional or indeterminate - that is, it must end if the
7 contemnor complies. Hicks v. Fejoek, 485 U.S. 624, 633, 108
8 S. Ct. 1423, 1430, 99 L.Ed.2d 721 (1988) In contrast, a
9 criminal contempt sanction is intended to punish the contemnor
10 for disobeying a court order and, thus, must be determinate or
11 unconditional. Such a sanction is not affected by any future
12 action by the contemnor. *Id.*, at 633-35, 108 S. Ct. at 1430-31.

13 In the case at bar, had each or even any of the 20 days sentences for
14 contempt actually have been imposed and WESLEY incarcerated then this
15 would clear have been a criminal contempt proceeding since the sanction
16 would simply have been to punish him for disobeying a court order.
17 However, in this instance all the sentences were stayed. Instead, the District
18 Court advised WESLEY (II. SUPP. APP. 375:11-18) as follows:

19 For failing to bring the child to tutoring in Kumon – for failing
20 to bring the child to tutoring on Mondays during your custodial
21 time, I’m finding you in contempt and I’m sentencing you to
22 twenty days, which is stayed.

For each of the missed payments, December, January,
February, child support, I’m sentencing you to twenty days for
each of those three missed payments, which are stayed, I’m not
imposing them.

If there’s any Court order in the future which you decide to
ignore, and this comes back to me on an Order to Show Cause,
I will impose jail on you. Do you understand that, Mr. Lewis?

By staying the imposition of the contempt sentences, it is clear that
the District Court did not punish WESLEY. Instead, the stayed sentences

1
2 are intended to motivate or coerce WESLEY into complying with court
3 orders in the future. For that reason, they constitute civil contempt
4 sentences rather than criminal contempt sentences. WESLEY's decision
5 not to have counsel at the Evidentiary Hearing did not violate his Six
6 Amendment rights.

7 As indicated above, WESLEY also seeks to have the child support
8 contempt findings vacated because "the District Court made no findings
9 regarding an ability to pay". WESLEY's current child support obligation
10 for the months that formed the basis of his contempt findings (December
11 2013, January 2014 and February 2014) was \$91.00 per month. (ROA 411).

12 There was no suggestion that WESLEY lacked the ability to pay that child
13 support.

14 Finally, WESLEY seeks to have the contempt finding related to his
15 failure to take BELLA to Kumon tutoring vacated because the underlying
16 order imposing such an obligation upon him was ambiguous since it
17 directed him to "take BELLA to her Kuman [sic] Tutoring class on
18 Mondays immediately after school." (ROA 410) WESLEY argues that he
19 did not realize that the Kumon program was continuing during the summer
20 months when school was not in session.

21 It is respectfully submitted that "immediately after school" simply
22 referred to the time each Monday when BELLA was to be taken to her

1
2 tutoring class. This did not make the order ambiguous. Moreover,
3 WESLEY's "summer months excuse" does not apply to the other instances
4 in which he failed to take BELLA to her tutoring despite school being in
5 session. (I. SUPP. APP. 153)

6 None of the three arguments WESLEY advances in an attempt to
7 have one or all of the contempt findings vacated have merit. The
8 uncontroverted evidence was that WESLEY in each instance violated a
9 court order, and stayed sentences were imposed in an attempt to obtain
10 compliance from him in the future.

11 **The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Setting Wesley's**
12 **Current Child Support Obligation Nor In Ordering Him To Pay**
13 **On-Half Of Bella's Kumon Tutoring**

14 The Replacement Opening Brief Of Appellant argues that the District
15 Court abused its discretion in setting WESLEY's current child support
16 obligation because ALLEGEDLY "no specific findings were made to
17 justify the deviation from the statutory guidelines". This argument is faulty
18 because the District Court's imposition of a current child support obligation
19 of \$360.00 per month is not a deviation from the statutory guidelines.

20 In the Findings Of Fact, Conclusions Of Law And Order filed on
21 December 27, 2013 following the 2013 Evidentiary Hearing, the District
22 Court made a finding that WESLEY was wilfully underemployed.
Applying his hourly wage and commission percentage to a forty hour work

1
2 week, the District Court determined and made a finding that WESLEY's
3 imputed gross monthly income for child support purposes is \$1,998.00.
4 (ROA 403-413). Since there was no appeal from this order, this became the
5 law of the case and no evidence was submitted at the 2014 Evidentiary
6 Hearing to the contrary. With the award of primary physical custody to
7 MARIA, applying the 18% multiple to this imputed income of \$1,998.00
8 yields a current child support obligation of \$360.00.

9 Alternatively, WESLEY argues that it was an abuse of discretion for
10 the District Court to order him to continue to pay one-half of BELLA's
11 Kumon tutoring cost because "the requirement that Mr. Lewis bring Bella to
12 the Kumon programming and pay one half the cost of such programming,
13 had already ended by the terms of the existing order."

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